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State of South Dakota, Department of Social Services

Request for Information

PART I: GENERAL INFORMATION

A. PURPOSE OF REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

The South Dakota Department of Social Services (DSS) is issuing this Request for Information (RFI) to solicit information concerning potential options to reduce and contain Medicaid expenditures, and to improve care management for high need, high cost Medicaid consumers.  DSS has identified certain populations and services that have had the greatest impact on growth in Medicaid spending, and is especially interested in proposals that address these targeted areas.  See Attachment A.  Nevertheless, Respondents are encouraged to recommend any proposals that will generate net savings to South Dakota Medicaid.  

This RFI seeks project proposals that could be implemented within the near future to generate real net cost savings in the South Dakota Medicaid program.  Proposals could include initiatives requiring an up-front investment by the state, but DSS is specifically interested in initiatives generating net savings within one-to-two years.  DSS reminds Respondents that the state has limited resources to invest in and implement new initiatives, and encourages proposals with a rapid and positive return on investment.  South Dakota is seeking recommendations for highly effective and relatively large scale projects, which are feasible, sustainable, easy to implement, and will result in significant cost savings and care improvements for South Dakota. To the extent that pilot initiatives are proposed, these pilots should be capable of being replicated throughout South Dakota.
Following a review of RFI submissions, DSS intends, at a future date, to issue a Request for Proposal(s) and to competitively negotiate a contract or contracts for the procurement of a project or projects to reduce the cost of Medicaid as described below.  
B. TIMELINE FOR RESPONSE SUBMISSION

Respondents must submit RFI responses no later than March 2, 2012.  Please submit your responses electronically to Mark Close at Mark.Close@state.sd.us. 

C. QUESTIONS, RESPONDER CONFERENCE AND FOLLOW-UP PRESENTATIONS

Questions requesting clarification of this RFI must be electronically submitted to Mark.Close@state.sd.us no later than Thursday, February 2, by noon.  All questions received electronically by this date will be answered.   No questions by telephone or fax will be accepted. Responses to any questions will be made available, in writing, to all potential Responders at the following website link by Friday, February 10: http://dss.sd.gov/.
Any or all Respondents may be requested to conduct a formal presentation to further explain and clarify the Respondent’s understanding and approach and/or to respond to questions from DSS in regard to the information submitted. 
D. RESPONSE SUBMISSION

Please prepare responses simply and economically, providing straightforward and concise descriptions.  Responses should follow the general format provided in Part III of this RFI, Request for Information Format.  All responses that relate to a single proposed initiative, project, or program must be 15 single spaced pages or less in a 12 font.  Please include the cover letter or any attachments (other than studies or data analysis referenced in Section C.1.k. below) in the page limit.  Responders may submit more than one proposed initiative as part of its response, and a limit of 15 pages for each additional proposed initiative, project or program should also be observed. 
Information provided in this RFI is not intended to convey any predisposition to a particular solution, method or service delivery model, nor do we want to limit the creativity of your response. 

Vendors submitting responses should be aware that the results of this RFI may be public information and that no claims of confidentiality will be honored.  DSS is not requesting, and does not require, confidential proprietary information or other competitively sensitive information to be included as part of the RFI Submission.  

E. DISCLAIMERS 

This RFI is issued for information and planning purposes only and does not constitute a solicitation for future business, an offer for procurement or any other type of current or future procurement or contractual action, and is only intended to gather information and input.  DSS will not award a contract or any other type of agreement on the basis of this RFI or otherwise pay for any of the information received. 

The information gathered through this process may be used in the development of future documents.  However, DSS does not guarantee that this will occur.

Respondents are solely responsible for all expenses associated with responding to this RFI. 
PART II:  BACKGROUND

South Dakota, like other state Medicaid programs nationally, is facing unprecedented revenue challenges, escalating medical costs, and increased enrollment due to the ongoing economic downturn.  As a result, South Dakota has taken steps to control costs, such as reducing reimbursement rates, and has identified one-time funding sources to minimize program funding cuts.  In addition, South Dakota has implemented a number of other initiatives over the past decade to control the costs of the program.
Below, this section will provide background information relating to a recent report issued by South Dakota identifying strategies to contain and control Medicaid costs, discuss a proposed Health Home Model that South Dakota intends to implement within the next year (which must be considered in developing project recommendations submitted as a result of this RFI process), and provide additional background information relating to the information and initiatives being sought through this RFI.   

A. MEDICAID SOLUTIONS WORK GROUP

To address escalating Medicaid cost pressures, Governor Dennis Daugaard established a Medicaid Solutions Work Group during the 2011 Legislative session, with the goal to solicit key stakeholders to provide input and develop strategies to contain and control Medicaid costs.  The Work Group and subcommittees (Pharmacy, Home and Community-Based Services, and Patient-Centered Care), met several times over a nine-month period, evaluated data, heard presentations on numerous best practices in South Dakota and nationally, and developed recommendations to help contain costs.  The group achieved consensus on many significant issues.  
In developing its recommendations, the Work Group focused on programs to address the key cost drivers and improve quality of care.  These include high-need patients with chronic conditions, pregnant women, individuals that over-utilize the emergency department (ED), avoidable hospital re-admissions, over-reliance on institutional care, and managing pharmacy costs.  
In general, the recommendations included strategies to:

· Re-design the primary care delivery system to change the way care is delivered and financed (e.g. by seeking to implement a “Health Home” initiative).
· Improve care management for high-cost individuals (including individuals with chronic conditions and pregnant women).

· Address the inappropriate utilization of emergency department services.

· Foster consumer accountability.

· Encourage the appropriate utilization of less costly home and community-based services.

· Reduce pharmacy costs while maintaining access and quality.

· Implement targeted benefit reductions.

A copy of the Medicaid Solutions Work Group report may be found at: http://dss.sd.gov/11-23-11%20FINAL%20Medicaid%20Solutions%20Report.pdf.
Note that a related RFI that will seek information relating to the possible implementation of a Preferred Drug List (PDL) is expected to be issued in the relatively near future.   In addition, South Dakota also formed an Infant Mortality Work Group, chaired by First Lady Linda Daugaard, which explored strategies to improve birth outcomes (such as maternity care “centering” programs).  As a result, proposals relating to possible PDL or initiatives or maternity care “centering” programs should not be submitted as part of this process. 

B. HEALTH HOME INITIATIVE

As a result of the Work Group analysis and activities, DSS intends to move forward to implement a Medicaid “Health Home” initiative.   A “Health Home” is an alternative approach to the delivery of primary care services that promises better patient experience and better results than traditional care.  The Health Home has many characteristics of the Patient-Centered Medical Home (PCMH), but is customized to meet the specific needs of low-income patients with chronic medical conditions.  Pursuant to this model, a team of healthcare professionals partners with the patient to create an individualized plan of care.  Patients are provided with all the support needed to follow their treatment plans and to adopt healthy habits.  The medical home model is expected to lower healthcare costs by preventing costly complications and hospitalizations.  Payment policies generally provide fee-for-service payments with add-ons for coordination and shared savings or bonuses for quality outcomes and reductions in ED and hospital utilization. 

Since 2006, more than 30 state Medicaid programs have adopted medical home initiatives with some level of enhanced payments, shared savings, and/or bonus payments.  Recent changes to federal law provide states with a new Medicaid option to provide “health home” services for enrollees with chronic conditions.  To encourage states to take up the new option, federal legislation authorized a temporary 90% federal match rate (FMAP) for health home services specified in the law. The health home option became available to states on January 1, 2011.  Planning is underway in South Dakota to design and implement a Health Home option in pilot areas with the State.  Implementation is anticipated within the next year. 
C. CARE MANAGEMENT FOR HIGH COST, HIGH NEEDS MEDICAID RECIPIENTS

In addition to implementing a Health Home Initiative, the Medicaid Solutions Workgroup also concluded that it would be prudent to engage in an information-gathering RFI process to further investigate and evaluate possible programs to better manage high-cost, high needs populations.  Providing enhanced care management to these populations was seen as one of the most promising areas for program cost containment.  Information on South Dakota’s existing efforts in this area, and additional background on the Medicaid Solution Workgroup recommendations, is provided below. 

State Medicaid programs have been operating primary care case management (PCCM) programs since the 1980s.  These programs typically link beneficiaries to primary care providers (PCPs) and pay providers about $3 per beneficiary per month for basic care management activities.  South Dakota operates a PCCM model known as “PRIME.”
 Beginning in the 1990s and increasingly today, states have sought to enhance and supplement these PCCM programs with additional features and programs, including more intensive care management and care coordination for high-need beneficiaries, disease management, improved Primary Care Physician (PCP) incentives, increased use of performance and quality measures, and utilizing targeted staff to manage the critical transition of individuals who are transitioning from an inpatient stay to the community. 

These programs can be designed to focus on specific chronic conditions (e.g. diabetes, asthma, congestive heart failure), individuals with co-occurring behavioral and physical health diagnosis, and pregnant women. The programs can also incorporate consumer incentive programs to reward consumers who adopt healthy behaviors. These programs can be implemented statewide, or in specific geographic areas within a state to target specific populations or instances of over-utilization. General examples of possible programs are outlined in Exhibit B. 
During the Medicaid Solutions Work Group process described above, numerous stakeholders gave presentations on promising care management approaches and programs that have implemented with success to better manage high-needs individuals, and there was much discussion relating to the possibility of expanding and replicating these programs within South Dakota.  The Work Group also recognized that it was critically important to carefully evaluate possible programs to ensure that the resources and investments devoted to these efforts result in meaningful cost savings.  As a result, the group concluded that it would be prudent to engage in an information-gathering RFI process to further investigate and evaluate possible programs. Providing care management to high-cost, high-needs populations was seen as a critical opportunity, and as one of the most promising areas for program cost containment.  

D. DATA AND PROGRAM INFORMATION 

General background information relating to South Dakota’s Medicaid Program may be found at the following website: http://dss.sd.gov/medicalservices/.  In particular, statistical reports related to the program can be found at http://dss.sd.gov/statistics/index.asp, and information on PCPs participating, by county, in the PRIME program can be found at: http://apps.sd.gov/sw96pc01med/default.aspx.
South Dakota has also prepared a number of summary reports that should provide insight relating to cost containment opportunities, and assist potential Respondents in providing meaningful estimated savings estimates.  The available reports are listed below:  
· Emergency Department Utilization Summary Report 

· Summary Data for Inpatient Hospital Recipients with $50,000 or More in Expenditures

· Claims Data for Inpatient Hospital Recipients with $50,000 or More in Expenditures by Diagnosis 

· Summary Data for Inpatient Hospital (Top 25 Principal Diagnosis by Expenditure, Number of Claims, and Average Payment) 

· PMPM by Eligibility Category (FY 2011)  

· Total Expenditure Information for Inpatient Hospital Recipients with $50,000 or More in Expenditures (FY 2011)  

These summary reports may be found at the following link: http://dss.sd.gov/.   

It is recognized that potential Respondents to RFPs that may be issued as a result of this process will require additional information to provide finite cost and savings estimates.  This RFI seeks input on the scope and extent of the information that should be made available to Respondents as part of the RFP process.  (See section III.B.4.d. below).  Respondents that are selected for implementation through a contract or pursued through a request for proposal will have access to additional data and be provided more time to refine their estimates. The intent of this RFI is provide enough information and data to Respondents to allow the submission of suggestions for proposed cost savings and quality improvement initiatives and concepts, as well as provide information relating to the scope and extent of possible cost savings opportunities. 

PART III: REQUEST FOR INFORMATION FORMAT

Responses should be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward, concise description of the information being requested in this RFI.  Emphasis should be on completeness and clarity of content.   

A. COVER LETTER AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Please include the following information in a cover letter and Executive Summary:

1. An introduction to the Respondent organization and interest in this RFI.  This narrative should provide a brief description and history of the organization, an overview of its organizational structure, a summary of business relationships with other State Medicaid Programs, and information on the key staff member(s) involved in the preparation of the response to the RFI. 

2. A point of contact for communications regarding this RFI (e-mail, phone number and address). 

3. Executive Summary highlighting the major features of your proposal; not to exceed three pages.
B. NARRATIVE OF PROPOSED SOLUTION
The RFI response should include a narrative description of the proposed solution.  The following provides a suggested structure of the response to the RFI.  This structure is intended to minimize the effort required to structure and analyze submitted responses.  As part of your response, please address the following questions: 

1. Project Description:  Please define the project proposed to reduce Medicaid expenditures and improve quality.

a. What services or populations are targeted or affected? 
b. What aspects of medical care are affected and how are medical costs reduced? 
c. If a care management program is proposed, will the project be mandatory or voluntary for the targeted individuals?

d. Does the project propose to target a specific geographic region within South Dakota? 

e. If a care management program is proposed, how many individuals will be included within the program? 

f. How will targeted recipients be identified (e.g. through claims data; referrals from physicians, nurses, family, or friends; and/or calls by beneficiaries to member services)? 
g. To what extent does the proposed project utilize “predictive modeling” or other technology to identify individuals for enrollment in care management? 
h. What interventions will take place, what is the intensity (e.g. telephonic or face-to-face) and frequency of the interventions, and who will perform them? 

i. Will the proposed project include consumer incentives to encourage participation? 

j. What is the role of providers in this project (e.g. provider education, pay-for-performance programs, etc.)?

k. What evidence, including clinical outcome measures and studies, demonstrates the effectiveness of the proposed project?  Please attach or reference directly relevant studies or analysis.     

2. Coordination with Existing PCCM Program, Proposed “Health Home” Initiative, and other Initiatives and/or Delivery Systems (I.e. to ensure continuity of care and avoid the provision of duplicative services):
a. How will the proposed project interact and coordinate with South Dakota’s existing PCCM Program (PRIME)?  
b. How will the proposed project interact and coordinate with South Dakota’s proposed “Health Home” Initiative? 
c. How, if at all, will the proposed project interact and coordinate with any Innovation Grant Proposals that may be accepted by CMS and implemented in South Dakota by the Respondent? 
d. How will the proposed project interact and coordinate with other programs that may serve South Dakota Medicaid consumers (e.g. Medicare, VA, Indian Health Service, etc.)? 
3. Implementation Challenges and Barriers: 

a. What steps are necessary to implement this project?

b. How quickly can the project be implemented following the execution of a contract?

c. What is required of DSS to achieve the proposed cost savings (e.g. legislation, regulations, federal waiver, system changes, etc.)?
d. What information or data are needed before implementation? 

e. What implementation challenges are typically faced by states that implement similar programs, and how are they addressed? 

f. What restrictions or limitations are there on the project? 
g. How do you propose to work with stakeholders to address any concerns that exist relating to the proposed project? 

4. Pricing Methodologies and Potential Cost Savings: 

a. When would savings be achieved after implementation? 
b. Estimate the amount of savings achieved or expected.  What is the ROI? Please provide or describe the methodology that you will utilize to estimate cost savings. 

c. Are the cost savings one time, annual, or recurring? 
d. List the types of program data that is necessary to facilitate accurate cost proposal submissions if an RFP is issued. 

e. Please describe how a vendor/ contractor would be paid for its services (e.g. PMPM payments, Performance-Based Contracting).
f. Are contract terms that “guarantee” cost savings for South Dakota proposed? 
g. Please provide estimates of “up-front” costs necessary to implement the program.  How can these costs be built into pricing models, to minimize up-front program expenditures by the state? 
5. Experience and History:
a. Describe your experience and successes with managing medical cost savings programs or projects in South Dakota or other states. 
b. If applicable, please provide estimated cost savings other states obtained through implementation of the proposed model or models. 

6. Program Evaluation:
a. Provide information on program performance measures and necessary baseline data that might be considered for use in evaluating program performance. 

b. What outcome or quality improvements are anticipated as a result of this project? 

7. Other Relevant Considerations and Information:  Are there any other issues the Respondent may see as relevant for this project that is not specifically addressed above? 

EXHIBIT A

Summary of Program Cost Drivers

South Dakota Medicaid Solutions Work Group Report 

	Program Cost Drivers

	High-Need Patients
	An analysis of South Dakota’s inpatient data demonstrated that in South Dakota, as in other states, a small percentage of users are responsible for a disproportionate percentage of the costs.  As a result, the group recognized that the recommendations should focus on managing the care of this population, as reducing even a small fraction of the spending for this group could potentially provide meaningful savings.



	Pregnant Women and Children
	The diagnosis information demonstrated that a very high percentage of South Dakota Medicaid inpatient hospital users are pregnant women and newborns, and the data revealed the high costs of care relating to adverse birth outcomes.  As a result, the group recognized the ongoing need to focus on improving pre-natal care in particular, and other educational and preventive strategies that will improve maternal care and health outcomes. 



	Individuals with Chronic Conditions
	Data revealed that significant inpatient costs were generated by individuals with episodic mood disorder, mental/behavioral health conditions, acute illness and injuries, and chronic physical conditions.  This is consistent with the experience in many states that costs are driven, in large part, by individuals with chronic conditions such as diabetes, congestive heart failure, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, among others.  As a result, the Work Group recognized that it is important to take steps to improve the delivery of care to these individuals.



	Overutilization of Emergency Department Services
	The data revealed high Emergency Department (ED) utilization among South Dakota Medicaid consumers, consistent with the experience nationally.  As a result, the Work Group recognized it is important to implement programs to better address this issue in South Dakota.  



	Over-reliance on Institutional Care
	The Work Group concluded that South Dakota (and Medicaid programs more generally) spend a disproportionate percentage of Medicaid resources on institutional care, and that it is important to take steps to encourage the appropriate utilization of less-costly community-based long-term care services and supports.



	Avoidable Hospital Readmissions
	During the Work Group proceedings, the issue of avoidable hospital readmissions was discussed.   It was recognized by the Work Group that all health care payers, including Medicaid programs, can take steps to control costs by implementing programs and efforts to reduce avoidable hospital readmissions.  


EXHIBIT B
Possible Examples of Care Management Programs

1. Targeted Disease Management Programs – In deciding on the appropriate population for their care management programs, States can choose to include members diagnosed with specific chronic diseases, the most common being asthma, diabetes, congestive heart failure (CHF), coronary artery disease (CAD), and chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD).  States also target other conditions, including high-risk obstetrics and, more recently, mental health and obesity.  Programs may be designed to target a designated number of individuals within each disease state. 
2. Intensive Medical Case Management for High Cost, High Risk Members - While early care management programs have targeted members with specific diseases, States are moving toward programs with a more holistic approach to managing diseases.  This approach addresses members’ multiple physical, mental, and social needs, including comorbidities, which are highly prevalent among the Medicaid population.   This intensive case management approach can also be designed to target a specific number of high cost, high risk members, who may not be served by Health Homes, Patient-Centered Medical Homes, or other programs that provide enhanced case management. 
3. Emergency Room Diversion Programs – Emergency Department (ED) utilization in state Medicaid programs has been growing significantly.  To address this issue, many states, have implemented utilization management programs to help address inappropriate ED utilization through targeted educational efforts, recipient restriction measures, or technology initiatives.     

In addition to these programs, state Medicaid programs often establish hotlines that permit consumers who require medical care or advice to contact the hotline as possible alternative to an ED visit.  Campaigns to educate consumers and discourage the inappropriate use of EDs are also common. 

4. Care Transition Programs - Patients face significant challenges when moving from one care setting to another within the fragmented health care system.  As currently structured, the U.S. health care system does not meet the needs of many patients during transitions between health care settings.  Not only can poor transitions lead to poor care quality, transitions of care issues pose a financial burden for the health insurers, the government, and patients.  Several studies in recent years have shown that deficiencies in health literacy, patient education, appropriate medical follow-up, and communication among health care providers to be associated with adverse events following hospital discharge.  To help address these issues, state Medicaid programs and other payors are implementing care transition programs to help improve care and reduce unnecessary readmissions, and reduce escalating costs. 
5. Enhanced Primary Care Case Management Programs - Some States have chosen to take a population-based approach to their care management programs. These States include their entire FFS and PCCM populations in the program and offer them a continuum of care based on their current needs. Members without chronic diseases might have access to a nurse call line and might be assigned to a medical home. Members who currently are able to self-manage their chronic conditions might receive educational brochures, while members who have unmanaged or poorly managed conditions (including comorbidities) are assigned to higher levels of care management. This program design permits members to move among levels of care as their conditions allow.  Similar to targeting members at high risk or with high utilization patterns, the population-based approach might be more successful at managing comorbid conditions by addressing members’ entire needs rather than just a single disease.
Note:  In addition to the above examples, South Dakota is open to other care management solutions or approaches that can serve to save costs in the State Medicaid Program.  The above examples are provided for illustrative purposes only, and the information provided in this attachment or the RFI is not intended to convey any predisposition to a particular solution, method or service delivery model, nor do we want to limit the creativity of your response. 

� The following links provide background information relating to the PRIME program:


PRIME program information for providers: http://dss.sd.gov/sdmedx/includes/providers/programinfo/mcare/index.aspx 


PRIME program information for recipients: http://dss.sd.gov/sdmedx/includes/recipients/recipientprograms/mcare.aspx.  


Professional Services Manual (pages 32-42): http://dss.sd.gov/sdmedx/docs/providers/ProfessionalServicesManual.pdf  
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